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The “Snipers’” Massacre Question 

                The massacre of several dozen Maidan protesters on February 20, 2014 was a turning 

point in Ukrainian politics and a tipping point in the escalating conflict between the West and 

Russia over Ukraine. The mass killing of the protesters and the mass shooting of the police that 

preceded it led to the overthrow of the highly corrupt and pro-Russian but democratically elected 

government of Viktor Yanukovych and gave a start to a large-scale violent conflict that 

continues now in Donbas in Eastern Ukraine. A conclusion promoted by the post-Yanukovych 

governments and the media in Ukraine that the massacre was perpetrated by government snipers 

on a Yanukovych order has been nearly universally accepted by the Western governments and 

the media, at least publicly, without concluding an investigation and without all evidence 

considered. For instance, Ukraine’s President Petro Poroshenko in his speech to the US Congress 

on September 18, 2014 again claimed that the Yanukovych government overthrow resulted from 

mass peaceful protests against police violence, in particular, killings of more than 100 protesters 

by snipers on February 20, 2014.  

              The question is which side organized the “snipers’ massacre.” This paper is the first 

academic study of this crucial case of the mass killing. Analysis of a large amount of evidence in 

this study suggests that certain elements of the Maidan opposition, including its extremist far 

right wing, were involved in this massacre in order to seize power and that the government 

investigation was falsified for this reason.  

Evidence  

             Evidence used in this study includes publicly available but unreported, suppressed, or 

misrepresented videos and photos of suspected shooters, live statements by the Maidan 

announcers, radio intercepts of the Maidan “snipers,” and snipers and commanders from the 

http://www.cfr.org/defense-and-security/president-obamas-speech-nato-baltic-states/p33384
http://www.c-span.org/video/?321426-1/ukrainian-president-petro-poroshenko-address-congress
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special Alfa unit of the Security Service of Ukraine (SBU), ballistic trajectories, eyewitness 

reports by both Maidan protesters and government special unit commanders, public statements 

by both former and current government officials, bullets and weapons used, types of wounds 

among both protesters and the police, and the track record of politically motivated 

misrepresentations by the Maidan politicians of other cases of violence during and after the 

Euromaidan and historical conflicts. In particular, this study examines about 30 gigabytes of 

intercepted radio exchanges of the Security Service of Ukraine Alfa unit, Berkut, the Internal 

Troops, Omega, and other government agencies during the entire Maidan protests. These files 

were posted by a pro-Maidan Ukrainian radio amateur on a radio scanners forum, but they never 

were reported by the media or acknowledged by the Ukrainian government.     

 The timeline of the massacre with precision to minutes and locations of both the shooters 

and the government snipers was established in this study with great certainty based on the 

synchronization of the sound on the main Maidan stage, images, and other sources of evidence 

that independently corroborate each other. The study uses content analysis of all publicly 

available videos of the massacre, in particular, an unreported, time-stamped version of a 

previously widely seen, long video of the massacre on Instytutska Street, videos of suspected 

snipers and reports of snipers in live TV broadcasts and Internet video streams from the Maidan 

(Independence Square), time-stamped and unedited radio intercepts of SBU Alfa snipers and 

commanders, and radio intercepts of Internal Troops on the Maidan. The analysis also uses live 

Internet broadcasts. Recordings of all live TV and Internet broadcasts of the massacre by 

Espresso TV, Hromadske TV, Spilno TV, Radio Liberty, and Ukrstream TV, were either 

removed from their websites immediately following the massacre or not made publicly available. 

http://www.radioscanner.ru/forum/topic47258.html
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These recordings were mostly made by Maidan supporters, but they got very scant attention or 

removed from public access.  

              Similarly, official results of ballistic, weapons, and medical examinations and other 

evidence collected during the investigations concerning this massacre have not been made 

public, while crucial evidence, including bullets and weapons disappeared under the post-

Yanukovych government.  This investigation relies on such evidence reported by the media and 

reliable information in the social media. An on-site research on the site of the massacre on the 

Maidan itself and on Instytutska Street was also conducted for this study by the author. 

An Academic Investigation 

          A recently released time-stamped version of an over 40-minute-long video, which was 

filmed at a close distance on Instytutska Street starting at 9:06am, covers, with some unexplained 

omissions, the most intense parts of the killings. It confirms that the mass killing of Maidan 

protesters on February 20 began on the adjacent Instytutska Street around that time. The Berkut 

anti-riot police and Internal Troops units, which were besieging, storming, and blocking the 

Maidan for almost three months, hastily abandoned their positions and fled by 9:00am, while 

protesters then started to advance from their stronghold on the Maidan up Instytutska Street.            

            This and other videos show members of the special elite unit of the Berkut anti-riot police 

and “Omega” Internal Troops special unit, including two snipers, temporarily halting the 

advance of protesters near Zhovtnevyi Palace starting at 9:05am, shooting with both live 

ammunition from the Kalashnikov assault rifles (AKMS) and rubber bullets, and pointing sniper 

rifles in the direction of the protesters and then retreating along with Berkut and Internal Troops 

units, who were resting in Zhovtnevyi Palace. After retreating to these barricades under fire, 

respectively, at 9:20am and 9:28am, Berkut and Omega were doing the same from two 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=45oIghO7Vsc
http://www.moskal.in.ua/?categoty=news&news_id=1099
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
https://mapsengine.google.com/map/viewer?mid=zVKhquFCeTxo.kGCJAOCfBD7U
http://www.ukrstream.tv/en/videos/strilianina_na_maidani_20_04_2014_mvs_opriliudnilo_novie_vidieo#.U_pcdXl0xjo
http://www.radiosvoboda.org/media/video/25270812.html
http://www.radiosvoboda.org/media/video/video/25270710.html
http://www.radiosvoboda.org/media/video/video/25270710.html
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=C2zZiZhajzw&feature=youtu.be
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UfEH0ASrHyw&index=7&list=UUT65WVTZSqfLGXquFqKsHOQ
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barricades on Instytutska Street and nearby buildings of the National Bank and the Club of the 

Cabinet of Ministers. Directions of many bullet holes and their impact marks in the electric 

poles, trees, and walls of Zhovtnevyi Palace and the Hotel Ukraina also indicate that the police 

fired at the direction of the protesters and the protester-held buildings. SBU snipers were located 

in the Cabinet of Ministers, the Presidential Administration, and neighboring buildings.  

            The new Ukrainian government and the head of the parliamentary commission publicly 

stated that “snipers,” who massacred the unarmed protesters, were from these units. Specifically, 

the Prosecutor General Office announced on September 12, 2014 that its investigation found a 

Berkut commander and two members of his unit responsible for killing 39 Euromaidan 

protesters, or the absolute majority of some 50 protesters killed or mortally wounded on 

February 20, 2014.  But this Berkut commander was then put under house arrest, and he 

disappeared. In contrast, the government deliberately denies or ignores evidence of shooters and 

spotters in at least 12 buildings occupied by the Maidan side or located within the general 

territory held by them during the massacre. This includes the Hotel Ukraina, Zhovtnevyi Palace, 

buildings on both sides that were not previously identified as locations of snipers, and several 

buildings on the Maidan (Independence Square), such as the Conservatory, the Trade Union 

headquarters, and the Main Post Office. (See Map 1). 

             The Hotel Ukraina was controlled by the Maidan side since about 9:00am. During a 

volley of fire by the government forces near Zhovtnevyi Palace at 9:10-9:11am, and within a few 

minutes of calling for ambulances and medics, an announcer on the Maidan stage publicly 

warned the protesters about two to three snipers on the pendulum (second from the top) floor of 

the Hotel Ukraina on the opposite side of the street. The first wave of casualties among the 

protesters included Bohdan Solchanyk, a history instructor at the Ukrainian Catholic University  

http://www.bbc.com/news/uk-26333525
http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-26868119
http://www.moskal.in.ua/?categoty=news&news_id=1099
http://www.hromadske.tv/society/ekskomandir--berkutu--rozpoviv-pro-rozstrili-na-ma/
http://www.bbc.com/news/world-europe-26866069
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
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Map 1. Map of the massacre on February 20, 2014
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in Lviv. He was killed by a 7.62mm bullet in the area between the hotel and Zhovtnevyi at 

9:12am or within a couple minutes earlier. Videos indicate that one of the two protesters shot 

there at 9:14am appears to had been wounded in his backside from a direction of the hotel.  

             A Radio Liberty video shows at least one protester shot near the Maidan side of 

Zhovtnevyi Palace at 9:10am and two other protesters on the ground near the middle section of 

this building at 9:19am. The first location matches a reported place of killings of Vasyl Moisei 

from the Volhynian company of the Maidan Self-Defense and an elderly protester, likely, Iosyp 

Shilling. The government investigation, the media, and the Volhynian company commanders 

concluded that the Berkut shot dead these protesters during its counterattack. However, they 

omitted bullet impact traces in trees, poles, and Zhovtnevyi Palace facade within meters of these 

spots of the killings. Similarly, they omitted reports by the Maidan protesters witnesses 

concerning shooters in the Hotel Ukraina within minutes of these killings. In addition to the 

Maidan stage warning about “snipers” in the Hotel Ukraina at 9:11am, a video shows protesters 

taking cover under a pedestrian bridge on Instytutska Street between the hotel and Zhovtnevyi 

Palace and pointing out at 9:23am live ammunition fire at them and other protesters from a top 

floor of the hotel.  

           A BelSat video from the Hotel Ukraina depicts a bullet hitting a tree in front of a group of 

protesters from the direction of the hotel at 9:38am. A BBC video shows a sniper firing at the 

BBC television crew and the Maidan protesters from an open window on the pendulum floor of 

the hotel at 10:17am, and the BBC correspondent identifies the shooter as having a green helmet 

worn by the Maidan protesters. Two protesters at 10:24am point out sniper fire from the 

pendulum floor of the Hotel Ukraina in another video filmed from amid a group of protesters 

under the deadly fire on Instytutska Street. A first-hand account by Ilya Varlamov, his photos, a 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-MY_qEHzCPg
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hfLOrd_XMSk
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hfLOrd_XMSk
http://www.radiosvoboda.org/media/video/25270812.html
http://www.ukrstream.tv/en/videos/fil_m_20_dvadtsiat_svidchien_pro_pierielamnii_dien_protistoian_na_maidani#.VDwZOHl0xjr
http://www.volynpost.com/news/37432-film-volynska-sich-volyniany-ta-revolyuciia
http://www.ukrstream.tv/en/videos/fil_m_20_dvadtsiat_svidchien_pro_pierielamnii_dien_protistoian_na_maidani#.VDwZOHl0xjr
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nx34GTJTlYM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0DxkDiAcSF8
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zQhuD4F1yJ0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Qg3R_BSz0Cc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=-yUingq7eyI
http://zyalt.livejournal.com/2014/02/20/
http://varlamov.me/2014/-/DSC_8294140220budlon.jpg
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testimony by another eyewitness, and two nearby shots in the live broadcast, which was recorded 

from this hotel starting at 8:49am, suggest that two other people were shot at 10:30-10:31am 

from the Hotel Ukraina on the Maidan side. 

           Warnings from the Maidan stage about “three snipers” or “snipers” “shooting to kill” the 

Maidan protesters from the same hotel, specifically on Instytutska Street, were made again as the 

killings continued there, for example, at 10:36, 10:59, 11:07, and 11:09am in the live broadcast.  

Eyewitnesses in another video of the shooting around 4:00pm and the direction of the entry 

wound indicate that a bystander was killed by a bullet from the Hotel Ukraina in front of 

Zhovtnevyi Palace. In the late afternoon, a speaker on the Maidan stage threatened to burn the 

Hotel Ukraina, as they did the Trade Union building a day earlier, because of constant reports of 

snipers in the hotel. But a previously unreported radio intercept of the Omega commander 

(“Pegas”) and servicemen from his unit informed at 10:37am on February 21about gunshots 

coming from the Hotel Ukraina.  

 Many eyewitnesses among the Maidan protesters reported snipers firing from the Hotel 

Ukraina during the massacre of the protesters, specifically, about killing eight of them and at 

least one member of the Volhynian company of the Maidan Self-Defense on Instytutska Street. 

Bullet holes in trees and electricity poles on the site of the massacre and on the walls of 

Zhovtnevyi Palace indicate that shots came from the direction of the hotel.  

 When the Hotel Ukraina was controlled by the Maidan, “snipers” there were also 

shooting at the police. A Berkut policeman was killed in front of Zhovtnevyi Palace by two shots 

at 9:16am, minutes after the announcement about “snipers” in the hotel. There were bullet impact 

traces in a trees and poles within meters of this spot from a Hotel Ukraina direction. A Berkut 

commander stated that snipers in the Hotel Ukraina were shooting at the policemen from 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=G2wBk0o1xrA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KirOvavJbEU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KirOvavJbEU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sjUzaw5pIBY
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KhCnS2LQXFY
https://mega.co.nz/#!h9pWBI5A!24DmrbJQhFAQB7DVZG_Rhh40BCcUvtgm-5Z_9TMntCo
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UG_eML5Qh34
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jUdoQm_1LL0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vs_4skLIqns
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hIBESxqYRmc
http://www.ukrstream.tv/en/videos/strilianina_na_maidani_20_04_2014_mvs_opriliudnilo_novie_vidieo#.U_pcdXl0xjo
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=N37Nj2qbKoU
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7.62mm caliber hunting guns. A video from the police side of the barricade depicts several 

Berkut policemen with 7.62 caliber AKMs and many armed members of the Omega special 

Internal Troops unit with different caliber AKS-74, including several snipers, taking cover from 

live ammunition fire during the height of the massacre of the protesters starting from a few 

minutes before 10:00am. It shows at the very end one Omega sniper targeting an open window 

of the Hotel Ukraina and another sniper pointing his rifle in an upward direction, likely toward 

Zhovtnevyi Palace. A Ukrainian TV journalist, who filmed this video, confirmed that they came 

under a fire and were looking for a sniper in the Hotel Ukraina. The video also shows two Berkut 

servicemen pointing their Kalashnikov rifles or shooting from the top side of Kamaz trucks, 

likely at the same direction or in the direction of Muzeinyi Lane buildings, where shooters could 

be seen in live broadcasts around the same time. All these buildings and the protesters on 

Instytutska Street were located downslope from this police barricade.  

             Mustafa Nayem, an initiator of the Euromaidan protests and a widely known journalist 

from Ukrainska Pravda, an openly pro-Maidan online newspaper, twitted at 11:58am a photo of 

snipers on the police side of this barricade located at the intersection of Instytutska and Bankova 

streets. This photo was presented by the Ukrainian media as evidence that these were snipers 

who massacred the protesters. However, these snipers and Berkut special company shooters 

generally did not hide, and they allowed the media and bystanders to film themselves during the 

massacre.    

 Various sources of evidence indicate that Berkut and Omega used, respectively, their 

AKMS, AKS, and sniper rifles and that they shot live ammunition at the general direction of 

both the protesters and suspected Maidan “snipers.”  These live ammunition rounds came around 

the time of the killing and wounding of many protesters. Videos show that at least a large 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=B4OgynH-7Is
http://fakty.ua/177611-zhurnalist-igor-zaharenko-moi-kollegi-francuzy-nikak-ne-mogli-ponyat-pochemu-lyudi-v-kotoryh-strelyayut-ne-ubegayut-a-idut-navstrechu-svoej-smerti
https://twitter.com/mefimus/status/436439754088120320
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JD8VxLbsViQ
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proportion of the victims were shot at that time while taking cover behind a wall, trees, and a 

barricade, and thus being outside of a hitting zone from the direction of the police barricade and 

the adjacent government buildings, as the Google street view illustrates. But a possibility that 

some of the protesters, specifically armed ones, including “snipers,” were wounded or killed by 

the police fire cannot be ruled out.   

 The Omega commander and an Internal Troops commander in charge of such special 

units stated that they received orders to target snipers at the Hotel Ukraina and other locations 

and had permission to shoot at armed protesters. A former Berkut officer said that a sniper that 

accompanied the Berkut special company had a task to look for a Right Sector sniper in the 

Hotel Ukraina. Videos show the sniper lying on the ground and then pointing his rifle into the 

direction of the Hotel Ukraina at 9:23am exactly when one of the unarmed protesters is seen shot 

dead in a close proximity near the barricade. This was used as evidence of a direct hit, but the 

direction of the sniper rifle, sound of the gunshot, and a reported entry wound in the right 

shoulder and an apparent exit wound on a left front side of a torso, and an absence of a bullet 

hole on the shield indicate that the gunshot came from a building located in the back or on the 

right side. A BBC report shows another unarmed protestor shot dead in the same spot apparently 

from a similar direction within a minute before. An armed protestor in a Berkut-style uniform 

was wounded in his arm while he was running away from the scene. Many of the commanders 

and members of Omega, Alfa, and the special company of disbanded Berkut were deployed by 

the post-Yanukovych government along with Maidan Self-Defense and the Right Sector 

commanders and members in the civil war with pro-Russian separatists in Donbas in Eastern 

Ukraine.  

http://www.elmundo.es/internacional/2014/02/21/53079211268e3e402a8b4585.html
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
http://www.liveleak.com/view?i=934_1393021284
https://www.google.ca/maps/@50.448433,30.528272,3a,36y,149.11h,86.69t/data=!3m4!1e1!3m2!1s_uYAVNU3L-I74JTEd7UecA!2e0!6m1!1e1
https://www.google.ca/maps/place/ulitsa+Institutskaya,+7,+Kyiv,+Kyiv+city,+Ukraine/@50.447585,30.529846,3a,49.4y,278.34h,86.01t/data=!3m4!1e1!3m2!1snKpNlN67_gvXKCyJf5QVaA!2e0!4m2!3m1!1s0x40d4ce53a6383c3d:0xcd9944083b91aeb8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZLoRaI5knLI
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FlhoUCQVODQ
http://reporter.vesti.ua/47005-osnovnaja-rabota-u-nas-vperedi#.U_pn6Hl0xjq
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=C2zZiZhajzw&feature=youtu.be&t=12s
http://gazeta.ua/articles/people-newspaper/_donka-z-cholovikom-ishli-do-mene-nastya-ciluvala-v-odnu-schoku-andrij-u-drugu/554206?mobile=true
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nx34GTJTlYM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Uz9FwtFI5Kw
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nx34GTJTlYM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AOL07rlGlY8
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=nx34GTJTlYM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AOL07rlGlY8
http://www.washingtonpost.com/blogs/monkey-cage/wp/2014/07/20/what-do-citizens-of-ukraine-actually-think-about-secession/
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 A Ruptly TV video shows three armed Maidan protesters who were shooting from a top 

floor of the Hotel Ukraina in the direction not of the Independence Square but of Instytutska 

Street, judging by buildings that can be discerned. Volodymyr Ariev, an investigative journalist 

and a member of the parliament from the Maidan coalition party, concluded that “snipers” came 

to the Hotel Ukraina from the Music Conservatory side and that they blocked the Ruptly TV 

crew on the 14th floor of the hotel. A RT report, the abovementioned video, and other videos 

indicate that they were armed Maidan protesters. But Ariev claimed without providing any 

evidence that these “snipers” were working for the Russian government. 

 A previously unreported intercept of radio communications by the SBU Alfa 

commanders, contains specific information by the head of this Security Service unit (“Suddia”) 

and his deputy (“Indeiets”) that “shooters” or “snipers” were moving to the Hotel Ukraina and 

that they were from the Maidan side. This is consistent with an interview of the former SBU 

head, who said that one half of about 20 “snipers” with concealed AKMs in bags moved from the 

neighboring Music Conservatory, which was held by the Maidan, to the Hotel Ukraina, while 

another half moved in the direction of the Dnipro Hotel, located on the European Square near 

Muzeinyi Lane. The most complete time-stamped version of the Alfa commanders’ radio 

intercept synchronized with the local time indicates that their report of shooters moving to the 

Hotel Ukraina was made at 9:23am. It is contained among the intercepted radio exchanges of 

Alfa, Berkut, the Internal Troops, Omega, and other government agencies during the entire 

Maidan protests.  

 The Alfa commanders’ intercept demonstrates that snipers from this SBU unit were given 

an order to deploy to the Presidential Administration soon after a full combat readiness was 

reported by them at 7:24am. It also contains similar orders to get arms and deploy to these and 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=n2PTeUBCPAQ
http://gazetavv.com/news/policy/111392-detal-rozstrlu-de-sidli-snayperi-foto.html
http://russian.rt.com/article/22647
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wzq1xUGnzIs
http://youtu.be/ziTW0PG7SBM?list=UUKNVK5JFDH4KyPo-y3oF6HQ
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mGnwrOxZ08I
https://mega.co.nz/#!NlhF3TDb!zB_N_hpt3buM_kaAYQpS2EsyZRuk-_Zv2LtWH6Y2yYE
http://www.radioscanner.ru/forum/topic47258.html
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other government locations to other SBU units around the same time. In contrast to many fake 

claims and evidence publicized by the Ukrainian government, the radio intercept is not a fake. 

Their publicly available versions came from several different pro-Maidan sources. One version 

with omitted parts was posted by a news website run by an advisor to the current Minister of 

Internal Affairs of Ukraine, but it was also not acknowledged by the government.  

          An unedited and time-stamped intercept of a radio communication by this SBU sniper 

team, led by “Miron,” demonstrates that they were tasked with and were monitoring the Hotel 

Ukraina, specifically its top floors, and other neighboring buildings for snipers and their spotters, 

who helped to direct the fire, after the massacre was already underway. These snipers detected 

armed people, who shot from the tops of the buildings or were lying there, and then swiftly 

moved away after their location was communicated via radio among the SBU snipers. The Alfa 

snipers were based then the Cabinet of Ministers building (See Map 1). There are no sounds of 

gunshots by these SBU Alfa snipers or other indications that they fired in the audio clips, which 

span the most intense phase of the killings from 9:35am till 11:13am. Similarly, no evidence was 

produced that the protesters were killed with German sniper rifles used by this group of snipers. 

This is consistent with information provided by three SBU Alfa commanders during the 

parliamentary investigation and in their statements to Ukrainian TV networks.  

            However, an edited version of this SBU sniper team’s radio communications intercept 

was posted on YouTube on the day of the massacre with its content and added photos of the 

massacre misrepresented to claim that these were the killers. It was swiftly used by Ukrainian 

politicians, including the head of the parliamentary commission, and the media as key evidence 

that these SBU snipers killed the protesters. “Miron” stated that this highly publicized version 

was also cut and did not include their reports of civilians carrying weapons in bags in the 

http://ord-ua.com/2014/02/24/peregovory-alfy/
https://drive.google.com/folderview?id=0B_3NUMzt3UCaOE1PUlRBZDdvQlk&usp=sharing&tid=0B_3NUMzt3UCabG9TM3ZQa29YeTQ#list
http://tvi.ua/program/2014/02/25/pavlo_osychanskyy_i_andriy_suprun_u_okremiy_dumci
http://news.liga.net/articles/politics/1320027-kto_rasstrelival_maydan_dopros_komandira_alfy.htm
http://censor.net.ua/video_news/272706/my_deyistvovali_v_ramkah_zakona_i_krovi_na_nashih_rukah_net_komandir_spetspodrazdeleniya_alfa_video
http://youtu.be/2IcMmpXhRIw?list=UUKNVK5JFDH4KyPo-y3oF6HQ
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lnY2T9mAyto
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European Square. The time-stamped version includes such cut-out parts in the beginning and the 

end, but some key time periods during the massacre are missing there also.       

Photo 1. Suspected shooters on a roof of Zhovtnevyi Palace during the massacre. Source: 

Espresso TV broadcast            

 

               In their radio intercept, SBU snipers report hearing numerous gunshots and seeing 

suspected snipers or their fire coordinators at several other buildings then held by the Maidan 

side, such as on the roof of Kinopalats at 9:43am. The Maidan announcers reported three snipers 

shooting to kill from the top of Zhovtnevyi Palace, which is connected to Kinopalats, at 9:46–

9:47am, and they repeated such specific warnings until at least 10:53am. A bullet strikes a tree 

near a group of protesters from the direction of these buildings during one of the firs ways of 

mass killing at 9:45am, when within a couple of minutes at least eight protesters were killed or 

seriously wounded in a few meters radius from that tree. Bullet holes there indicate the same 

direction (See Photo 2).These three suspected “snipers” on the roof of Zhovtnevyi Palace were 

seen and identified as such during another wave of killing of protesters around 10:00am in a live 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AWh3Tt83LgY
https://drive.google.com/folderview?id=0B_3NUMzt3UCaOE1PUlRBZDdvQlk&usp=sharing&tid=0B_3NUMzt3UCabG9TM3ZQa29YeTQ#list
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KirOvavJbEU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=AWh3Tt83LgY
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broadcast (Photo 1). One of them is recorded in the same spot on the top of this yellow building 

in a BBC video at 10:04am, but this was not previously noted. Two “snipers” there were shown 

by ICTV on February 20, 2014. An apparent human contour is noticeable on the roof of 

Kinopalats in a photo taken by a French photographer from the midst of the massacre when at 

least several protesters were killed or seriously wounded near him around 10:20-10:25am. The 

Maidan Self-Defense reportedly later found more than 80 bullet casings on the roof of 

Zhovtnevyi Palace. Eyewitnesses among the Maidan protesters confirm presence of at least three 

snipers on Zhovtnevyi Palace roof and its upper floor. 

 

 

Photo 2. Bullet impact marks from the direction of Zhovtnevyi Palace and Kinopalats on another 

tree at the site of the massacre. (Source: Photo by the author) 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Qg3R_BSz0Cc
http://fakty.ictv.ua/ru/index/view-media/id/55523
http://www.magnumphotos.com/CorexDoc/MAG/Media/TR2/e/6/9/3/PAR454511.jpg
http://www.liveleak.com/view?i=934_1393021284
http://gk-press.if.ua/node/11652
http://www.ukrstream.tv/en/videos/fil_m_20_dvadtsiat_svidchien_pro_pierielamnii_dien_protistoian_na_maidani#.U_pcFHl0xjo
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 There is similar evidence of shooters on the top of buildings on both sides of Instytutska 

Street in the general area that was under Maidan control. A recording of live broadcast showed at 

10:23am, 10:45am, and 12:15pm a person lying on a roof of a Muzeinyi Lane building (see 

Photo 3 and the linked videos). In the first two cases, a camera zoomed into these areas within 

minutes when gunshots were heard and protesters were shot on Instytutska Street. This recording 

appears to confirm previous media reports about a different video showing a “sniper” on a roof 

shooting at Berkut and then protesters from AK and wearing a Berkut-style uniform. The video 

was shown in the Ukrainian parliament to some of the Maidan leaders and other members of the 

parliament, but it is still not released publicly. There is also a brief extract from an unknown 

video showing a Maidan activist identifying a shooter, who was aiming his gun in the direction 

of Instytutska Street, on a roof of an adjacent building on Muzeinyi Lane. An apparent human 

figure might be noticed there at 10:23am. A bullet is seen striking a pole from the Muzeinyi Lane 

direction and ricocheting at 9:54am. At least several protesters are killed and seriously wounded 

at this spot or in a few meters radius within minutes of that time. Bullet holes in the trees on the 

site of the massacre indicate the same direction of fire. A bullet impact point suggests that ABC 

News occupied room in the Hotel Ukraina was fired from a direction of Muzeinyi Lane or 

Kinopalats buildings.  

 Suspected shooters on the green Arkada Bank building are pointed out by fleeing 

protesters after many shots fired at 9:44am. Reports by SBU snipers in their intercepted radio 

communication at 9:46am, by a female Maidan medic at 10:04am in the BBC video, and by 

another protester in the Radio Liberty video corroborate this. A TVP journalist based in the Hotel 

Ukraina during the massacre stated that he saw one of the “snipers” on the roof of Arkada and 

that their producer was shot from this building’s roof in his Hotel Ukraina room, judging by the 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WcolpA3HAhs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=t5Ss_bCoAvE
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=zTKBKW_ZdL0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
http://obozrevatel.com/politics/81324-nardep-u-nas-est-video-gde-vidno-kak-snajper-v-forme-berkut-strelyaet-po-berkutu.htm
http://tvi.ua/program/2014/02/25/znak_oklyku_khto_kholodnokrovno_rozstrilyuvav_biyciv_nebesnoyi_sotni
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WcolpA3HAhs
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
http://abcnews.go.com/blogs/headlines/2014/02/inside-kievs-ukraina-hotel-the-makeshift-hospital-and-morgue/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
https://drive.google.com/folderview?id=0B_3NUMzt3UCaOE1PUlRBZDdvQlk&usp=sharing&tid=0B_3NUMzt3UCabG9TM3ZQa29YeTQ#list
https://drive.google.com/folderview?id=0B_3NUMzt3UCaOE1PUlRBZDdvQlk&usp=sharing&tid=0B_3NUMzt3UCabG9TM3ZQa29YeTQ#list
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Qg3R_BSz0Cc
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UG_eML5Qh34
http://www.unian.net/politics/889175-po-menshey-mere-chetvero-snayperov-rasstrelivali-lyudey-na-maydane-20-fevralya-polskiy-jurnalist.html
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direction of a bullet strike. Ruslana, in one of her announcements on the Maidan stage in the 

afternoon, relayed “reliable reports” from the Maidan Self-Defense members of “snipers” on the 

roof of Arkada.  

             Likely shooters or spotters can also be identified in windows on the roofs of two other 

buildings in the 45 minute-long video of the massacre and in the SBU snipers’ intercept at about 

the same time at 10:11–10:12am. One of the survivors of the massacre, who can be seen pointing 

a hand after being wounded there during one of the early waves of the killing around 9:44-

9:45am, stated that shots that killed and wounded most members of his group came from the 

sides and from the back. Videos show at least eight protesters killed and gravely wounded in this 

spot during this short period of time and more than dozen other protesters gunned down in the 

same area on the right side of Instytutska Street within the next 45 minutes. He also said that his 

group of Svoboda-led Khmelnytskyi company of the Maidan Self-Defense received an order to 

go there. A video confirms this. Likewise, bullet impact points in trees confirm the live 

ammunition fire from this sidewise direction.  

            It is noteworthy that some crucial parts of this and other waves of the killings are missing 

in this long video filmed by an activist of Zelenyi Front, a Kharkiv organization. This 

organization is associated with one of the former opposition leaders, who became the Minister of 

Internal Affairs in the post-Yanukovych government. Another pro-Maidan activist is seen in 

different videos filming and taking pictures during the massacre from within advancing 

protesters, many of whom were then killed and wounded.  His publicly released videos and 

photos also do not include many crucial parts of the massacre. He later served in the special 

police battalion Azov, which was created under formal command of the Ministry of Internal 

Affairs, and he gained notoriety for painting a star on the top of a Moscow high-rise building. In 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=PC-KGiKSBNU
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0DxkDiAcSF8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0DxkDiAcSF8
http://24tv.ua/home/showSingleNews.do?v_glazah_lyudey_ya_ne_videl_straha__oni_znali_na_chto_idut__geroy_maydana&objectId=414205&lang=ru
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0DxkDiAcSF8
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=q2lWf_hPCKA
http://radiokoteg.kiev.ua/MAIDAN/MAIDAN_017/P2280040.JPG
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=tdFHNE8WxOA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=GeBMBhuWn6c
http://www.mustang-wanted.com/blog/20th_of_february_independence_square
http://www.mustang-wanted.com/blog/20th_of_february_independence_square
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videos of both these pro-Maidan amateur photographs, there were no signs of attempts to 

identify Maidan sniper positions in surrounding buildings, in spite of their close proximity, or 

reaction to loud warnings from the Maidan stage about snipers in these locations. Similarly, 

“shooters” did not appear to target them to avoid possible identification, in contrast, to targeting 

many professional foreign journalists, including the BBC correspondent in the same area, the 

Associated Press, TVP, ABC News, and Australian Broadcasting Corporation journalists, and at 

least twice reporters from both ARD and RT. 

 

 

Photo 3. A suspected shooter on a roof of a Muzeinyi Lane building during the massacre. Source: 

Espresso TV/Spilno TV broadcast  

 

 Another indication that the shooters were from the Maidan side is that the gunshots on 

Instytutska Street significantly subsided or stopped by about 10:50–11:20am, but they continued 

http://bigstory.ap.org/article/ap-reporter-witnesses-carnage-ukrainian-capital
http://www.unian.net/politics/889175-po-menshey-mere-chetvero-snayperov-rasstrelivali-lyudey-na-maydane-20-fevralya-polskiy-jurnalist.html
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cWK5yJN96dE&list=UUT65WVTZSqfLGXquFqKsHOQ&index=6
http://russian.rt.com/article/22657
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WcolpA3HAhs
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on the Maidan itself. This square, along with main buildings and surrounding areas, was under 

control of the opposition. This corresponds in time to a report by a senior opposition leader, who 

became the head of the presidential administration after the violent overthrow of the previous 

government, of receiving SMS request at 10:45am from the commander of a sniper group, likely 

Alfa, Omega, or Sokil, to allow their snipers to search together with Maidan representatives for a 

shooter from the Hotel Ukraina. He also said that there was a subsequent meeting between him 

together with Andrii Parubii, the Maidan Self-Defense commander, with a group of government 

snipers. The reported fact and the location of this meeting in the government-controlled area near 

the same barricade with Berkut and Omega on Instytutska Street close to the Presidential 

administration also indicate that these snipers were regarded at the time by the opposition leaders 

as not the actual killers, in spite of public statements to the contrary. Similarly, there were two 

members of Svoboda leadership near the Hotel Ukraina at the time of the massacre. The 

government snipers accompanied by the Maidan Self-Defense reportedly remained in the hotel 

area till 1:00–1:30pm. Exact locations of the shooters could have been easily determined by open 

windows in the Hotel Ukraina and eyewitnesses identifying them. There were also media reports 

of a few captured “snipers” in this hotel.  

            But Maidan leaders denied that any shooters were there and claimed that several Maidan 

Self-Defense and Right Sector searches at the Hotel Ukraina, specifically conducted there around 

noon by Maidan protesters armed with AKMS or AKS and rifles, in Zhovtnevyi Palace, and in 

the Conservatory during the massacre and soon after it ended did not find any of the “shooters.” 

For, example, Mustafa Nayem, who streamed live for Hromadske TV, stated at 3:00pm that a 

Right Sector and Self-Defense search did not locate any snipers who were spotted on an upper 

http://www.pravda.com.ua/articles/2014/08/5/7034007/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Qg3R_BSz0Cc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xws_Yy3YVa8
http://www.ustream.tv/recorded/44032507
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floor of the Hotel Ukraina. As noted the shootings from the hotel, specifically one of its top 

floors, continued afterwards.    

  Similarly, several leaders of the opposition parties (Svoboda, the Radical Party, and the 

Fatherland) were speaking on the Maidan stage and blaming the Yanukovych government and its 

snipers during the very time or shortly after numerous gunshots fired from nearby buildings on 

the Maidan. For example, a synchronization of a live broadcast recording and a brief intercepted 

radio communication of the actual shooters show that they fired several rounds of altogether 10 

shots in quick succession at 11:33–11:34am. The loud sound of these gunshots in a recording of 

the live broadcast (1h 08-09 min) from the Kozatsky Hotel on the Maidan indicates that these 

shots likely came from this or other nearby locations, such as the Trade Union building. A 

minute afterwards, Oleksander Turchynov, a former head of the Security Service of Ukraine who 

would become the head of the Ukrainian parliament and the acting president after the violent 

overthrow of the Yanukovych government, started his speech with the “Slava Ukraini” greeting, 

which was used by the Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists (OUN) and the Ukrainian 

Insurgent Army (UPA) and copied by the Maidan. Sounds of other shots and sirens of moving 

ambulances can be heard in the live broadcast during his speech. The manner of the 

communication of these shooters in the single publicly available recording is very different from 

those of SBU and Omega snipers and other government agencies in more than 30 gigabytes of 

their intercepted, recorded, and released radio exchanges during the entire Maidan protests. 

These intercepts, admissions by the Maidan leaders that they had such intercepts, and a statement 

by the Alfa commander all indicate that the shooters and their spotters had such radio intercepts 

and were able to avoid tracking by the SBU snipers or move to different positions.       

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vZhfi_ltZok
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=SckMtPWECzg
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gma7QRdiKMM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=047FGI4vwhw
http://pleer.com/tracks/9434672tjeS
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=047FGI4vwhw
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RhP8QITWJD8
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=HKHnh5Aml84
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 Similarly, a female medic was wounded, and another protester standing in front of her 

was killed on the Maidan near the Kozatsky Hotel at 11:43am. This happened during a speech by 

Oleh Liashko, a leader of the Radical Party, which openly cooperated after the overthrow of 

Yanukovych with the neo-Nazi Social National Assembly, which was of the founders of the 

Right Sector. A more distant sound of a shot than the abovementioned rounds is heard at 1hour 

and 18 minutes in the live broadcast recording, which starts at 10:23am. Eyewitnesses and the 

direction of the entry wound indicate that this shot was made from the Main Post Office 

building, which was occupied by the Right Sector. This shooting case attracted big attention 

from the Ukrainian and Western media, but like all shootings of protesters, journalists, and the 

police on the Independence Square, government snipers were blamed and no real investigation 

was conducted.    

 Eyewitnesses among the protesters, the TVP correspondent, and bullet trajectories also 

point to shooters around the same time in the Trade Union building, the Kozatsky Hotel, the 

Music Conservatory buildings, and some other buildings on the Maidan itself. At 11:43am, an 

unidentified intruder broke into a radio communication of the Internal Troops units, which 

retreated from the Maidan, and informed them that there were people aiming a rocket propelled 

grenade launcher into the Hotel Ukraina from the 6th floor of the Trade Union building. SBU 

snipers noted people at the top of this building at 10:53 and 10:59am. 

          An RT correspondent reported at 10:58am that a 7.62mm AKM bullet narrowly missed 

him at a Hotel Ukraina window and that its trajectory pointed to the Conservatory building. An 

Associated Press correspondent also reported being fired at in his Hotel Ukraina room 

overlooking the Maidan in the morning of February 20, and he found that bullet on his balcony. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0U3z72_GuAk
http://1shot1.com/euromaidan-ukraine/#jp-carousel-797
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=047FGI4vwhw
http://www.segodnya.ua/politics/pnews/ranennaya-devushka-volonter-snayper-strelyal-prednamerenno-499671.html
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=OW1phz00_8I
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=As3nA4r-hA0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vs_4skLIqns
http://www.unian.net/politics/889175-po-menshey-mere-chetvero-snayperov-rasstrelivali-lyudey-na-maydane-20-fevralya-polskiy-jurnalist.html
https://mega.co.nz/#!x940EJCZ!_xgo3mOstwvatJ194GnCIoJBrMIrnrb4wq5L1Z7TCyA
https://drive.google.com/folderview?id=0B_3NUMzt3UCaOE1PUlRBZDdvQlk&usp=sharing&tid=0B_3NUMzt3UCabG9TM3ZQa29YeTQ#list
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YuNT01JmfLw
http://bigstory.ap.org/article/ap-reporter-witnesses-carnage-ukrainian-capital
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An Australian ABC reporter’s hotel room was also shot from the direction of the Maidan around 

that time. A BBC occupied room was also fired upon.  

 Various sources show that Maidan shooters used these buildings to fire live ammunition 

at journalists and at Berkut and Internal Troops at night or early morning on February 20. Two 

Ukraina hotel rooms of German journalists were shot from the direction of the Main Post Office, 

as a Ukrainian journalist working for the German TV reported on his Facebook page, or from the 

direction of Conservatory, located across the street from the new headquarters of the Maidan 

Self-Defense and the Right Sector. The parliamentary commission stated based on medical 

emergency services reports that shooting at Berkut and Internal Troops from the Maidan and 

neighboring streets started on February 20 at 6:10am. A parliament member from the Maidan 

opposition stated that he received a phone call from a Berkut commander shorty after 7:00am 

that 11 members of his police unit were wounded by shooters from the Music Conservatory 

building. A Maidan Self-Defense search there found no shooters after this parliament member 

informed Parubiii and other opposition leaders. But this Berkut commander again reported that 

within a half an hour his unit casualties increased to 21 wounded and three killed.  

           Similarly, reports in the morning of February 20 by the Internal Affairs Ministry, 

statements by the former heads of SBU and the Ministry of Internal Affairs, radio intercepts of 

Internal Troops, videos, and eyewitness accounts by the protesters, including a Swedish neo-

Nazi volunteer, independently confirm that the police units on the Maidan were shot with live 

ammunition from the Conservatory and Trade Union buildings before 9:00am and that they 

swiftly retreated as a result of this fire and the many casualties that they suffered. For instance, in 

their radio communications, the Internal Troops units, stationed on the Maidan near the Trade 

Union building, made urgent requests for an ambulance at 8:08am, a life support vehicle at 

http://www.abc.net.au/lateline/content/2013/s3949130.htm
http://abcnews.go.com/blogs/headlines/2014/02/inside-kievs-ukraina-hotel-the-makeshift-hospital-and-morgue/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cWK5yJN96dE&list=UUT65WVTZSqfLGXquFqKsHOQ&index=6
https://www.facebook.com/oleksiy.stepura?fref=ts
http://lb.ua/news/2014/02/22/256600_vozrozhdenie_radi.html
https://mega.co.nz/#!x940EJCZ!_xgo3mOstwvatJ194GnCIoJBrMIrnrb4wq5L1Z7TCyA
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jebYYuIfmYc
http://www.friatider.se/swede-patrols-ukraines-streets-with-right-wing-paramilitaries
http://www.friatider.se/swede-patrols-ukraines-streets-with-right-wing-paramilitaries
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=BCsYU8_W-IU
https://mega.co.nz/#!x940EJCZ!_xgo3mOstwvatJ194GnCIoJBrMIrnrb4wq5L1Z7TCyA


22 
 

8:21am, an ambulance at 8:29am, two ambulances at 8:39am, five ambulances at 8:46am, and 

then issued retreat orders at 8:49 and 8:50am. 

          A senior Internal Troops officer stated that they had information that five “snipers” moved 

to the Conservatory from the Trade Union building after it was burned by the protesters during 

Alfa’s attempt to seize it after 11:00pm on February 18. He also confirmed the shooters killed 

and wounded many policemen from the Trade Union building and Maidan tents before its 

burning, when it was occupied and used as the headquarters of the Maidan Self-Defense and the 

Right Sector. At least 17 of them were killed and 196 wounded from gunshots on February 18-

20, including three killed and more than 20 wounded on February 20.  

           The radio intercepts of Internal Troops units and Alfa commanders and snipers confirm 

that their attempts to seize the Maidan and the Trade Union building on February 18 were 

stopped by the burning of this building by its defenders and by use of live ammunition by the 

Maidan Self-Defense and the Right Sector. These seizures of the Maidan and its headquarters 

were authorized by the Yanukovych government as a part of the “Boomerang” and “Khvylia” 

plans. These plans were put in force after an attempt by the opposition led by the Maidan Self-

Defense and the Right Sector to storm the parliament and their burning of the Party of Regions 

headquarters resulting in a death of an employee working there in the morning of the same day. 

An Alfa officer, who led one of the SBU groups during storming of the Trade Union Building, 

stated that their task was to seize the 5th floor, which contained a lot of weapons. The Right 

Sector occupied the entire floor which served as both its headquarters and a base of the Right 

Sector company of the Maidan Self-Defense. A radio intercept of Alfa commanders contains 

their report about deploying SBU snipers after two “snipers” or spotters from the Maidan side 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=FlhoUCQVODQ
https://mega.co.nz/#!h9pWBI5A!24DmrbJQhFAQB7DVZG_Rhh40BCcUvtgm-5Z_9TMntCo
http://www.moskal.in.ua/?categoty=news&news_id=1099
https://mega.co.nz/#!x940EJCZ!_xgo3mOstwvatJ194GnCIoJBrMIrnrb4wq5L1Z7TCyA
https://mega.co.nz/#!h9pWBI5A!24DmrbJQhFAQB7DVZG_Rhh40BCcUvtgm-5Z_9TMntCo
http://moskal.in.ua/?categoty=news&news_id=997
http://tvi.ua/program/2014/02/25/pavlo_osychanskyy_i_andriy_suprun_u_okremiy_dumci
https://mega.co.nz/#!NlhF3TDb!zB_N_hpt3buM_kaAYQpS2EsyZRuk-_Zv2LtWH6Y2yYE
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were noticed on a Maidan-controlled building, their preparation to storm this building, and an 

order from their superior to Alfa jointly with the Internal Troops to start this attack.  

             The current government and the parliamentary commission claimed without providing 

any evidence that Alfa burned the Trade Union building and that undercover SBU agents burned 

the Party of Regions headquarters. After these attacks, Berkut, the Internal Troops, and titushki 

assembled by the Yanukovych government launched a counterassault, and at least five Maidan 

protesters died as result of being beaten, driven over, or injured by stun grenades. At least six 

Maidan protesters were killed on February 18 and 19 by gunshots, primarily from hunting 

weapons and pellets, like was the case with three protesters killed in the end of January, 2014. 

The Maidan opposition and the current government asserted without providing any evidence that 

these protesters were gunned down by the Berkut and snipers, while similarities with the 

“snipers’” massacre on the Maidan are not considered and not investigated.  

 The Main Post Office at the time of the February 20th shootings was occupied by the 

Right Sector, an alliance of radical nationalist and neo-Nazi organizations and football ultras 

groups, which took active part in the violent attacks on the presidential administration on 

December 1, 2013 and the parliament in the end of January and on February 18, 2014. The 

Maidan company commander confirmed that at that time his special combat company, which 

included armed protesters with experience of fighting in armed conflicts, was based in the 

Conservatory building. He stated that this company was formed with an agreement of the Right 

Sector. In a new US documentary investigating the Maidan massacre, Berkut members said that 

they noticed protesters with the Right Sector insignia in the Music Conservatory building on 

February 19, that armed protesters took positions there, and that they were shot and wounded, 

while other Berkut officers killed by shooters from the second floor of the Conservatory in the 

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0IdtI9DEXbU
http://www.pravda.com.ua/articles/2014/02/24/7016048/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=RIi8jGVu-ME
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morning of February 20. Maidan eyewitnesses among the protesters said that organized groups 

from Lviv and Ivano-Frankivsk regions in Western Ukraine arrived on the Maidan and moved to 

the Music Conservatory at the night of the February 20th massacre, and that some of them were 

armed with rifles. 

             The seeming absence of the Right Sector and this combat company during the snipers’ 

massacre of the protesters is the “dog that did not bark” evidence pointing to their likely 

involvement. The leader of the Right Sector shortly after the midnight announced that his 

organization did not accept a truce agreement with Yanukovych and would undertake decisive 

actions against the government forces. A report by the head of the parliamentary commission 

concluded that “unknown civic organizations” could have been shooters of the police. But these 

cases of the killing and wounding of the police were not investigated by the government, 

specifically the Ministry of Internal Affairs. This ministry created, along with the Right Sector 

and the Social National Assembly, special police battalions, which fought in Donbas. Similarly, 

the National Guard was newly organized on the basis of the Internal Troops and the Maidan Self-

Defense.    

              It was the same special combat company commander who called from the Maidan stage 

in the evening of February 21 to reject a signed agreement, which was mediated by foreign 

ministers of France, Germany and Poland and a representative of the Russian president, and 

issued a public ultimatum for President Yanukovych to resign by 10:00am of the next day. He 

justified his ultimatum by blaming Yanukovych for the massacre, stated that his combat 

company based in the Music Conservatory was responsible for the turning point of the 

Euromaidan, and threated an armed assault if Yanukovych would not resign. Yanukovych fled 

from Kyiv on the same day soon after this ultimatum was issued.   

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vs_4skLIqns
http://www.pravda.com.ua/ukr/news/2014/02/20/7014989/
http://www.moskal.in.ua/?categoty=news&news_id=1099
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=C6cpyRwl-ZU
http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/02/25/us-ukraine-crisis-hero-insight-idUSBREA1O0JT20140225
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 The types of guns and ammunition used and the direction and types of entry wounds 

among both protesters and policemen also confirm that the shooters came from the Maidan side. 

The parliamentary commission reported that 17 protesters were killed by buckshot (pellets), a 

part were shot dead from AKMS (7.62х39mm caliber), one from the Makarov handgun, while in 

most cases the bullets went through the bodies. The Prosecutor General Office stated on April 2 

that a SKS semi-automatic “sniper” carbine, which has the same caliber as AKMS, was use to 

shoot protesters from the Hotel Ukraina, even though this outdated firearm was not used by 

professional snipers and was available in Ukraine as a hunting weapon. But the Prosecutor 

General Office then began to claim that they still were checking if any snipers were in the hotel.  

 The head of the medical service of the Euromaidan and other medics reported that both 

protesters and the police were shot by similar ammunition, specifically 7.62mm caliber bullets 

and buckshot (pellets), and that they had similar types of wounds. This information was relayed 

by the Estonian minister of foreign affairs in his intercepted telephone call to the EU Foreign 

Affairs head. Various statements by medics, videos, photos, and media reports confirm that 

dozens of protesters were shot precisely in necks, heads, thighs, and hearts, the most lethal 

places, and that many entry wounds were from the top, side, or back.This is consistent with 

locations of shooters on the roofs or top floors of all specified buildings. Precise and deadly 

gunshots and the 7.62mm KalashnikovAKMS type assault rifles and various hunting weapons 

and ammunition used also indicate that shooters were positioned within several dozen meters 

from the places where both the police and the protesters were killed or wounded. 

           Photos, videos, eyewitness testimonies and other sources demonstrate that some protesters 

were shooting with or openly carrying hunting and sporting rifles, Kalashnikov assault rifles and 

their hunting versions, Makarov, and other handguns during the mass shooting of the police and 

http://www.moskal.in.ua/?categoty=news&news_id=1099
http://www.unian.net/politics/903462-prikaz-rasstrelivat-mitinguyuschih-otdaval-yanukovich-gpu.html
http://www.radiosvoboda.org/content/article/25289662.html
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hIBESxqYRmc
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZEgJ0oo3OA8
http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-2563609/Truce-Kiev-collapses-hours-official-day-mourning-28-people-killed-protests-erupts-violence.html
http://belsat.eu/en/wiadomosci/a,18065,riot-police-shooting-protesters-in-kyiv-death-toll-rises-video-photo-livestream.html
http://www.polissya.net/politukym/tochka-zory/1600-maidan-notatku-ochevudcia-z-volodumurtsia.html
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the protesters. The parliamentary commission concluded that it was very likely that the 

policemen on the Maidan were shot from firearms and ammunition that were seized by protesters 

from the police, internal troops, and SBU offices and arsenals in Western Ukraine on February 

18 and 19. These weapons specifically included 1,008 Makarov handguns, 59 AKMS (folding 

7.62 caliber Kalashnikov assault rifles, two SVD sniper rifles, and various other rifles and 

shotguns. Their present whereabouts remain unknown.  

 The failure by the government to locate and identify the shooters of the protesters and 

investigate the shooting of the police and the similar failure of the Maidan Self-Defense to stop 

or detain them during the massacre in spite of their locations being known at that time and in 

spite of calls to do so from the protesters and the government officials also indicate that the 

shooters were from the Maidan side. Media reports, eyewitness accounts, the audio of the 

shooters, and statements by the former SBU head and internal affairs minister suggest that they 

included armed protesters and hired people with appropriate experience from Ukraine and 

foreign countries.  

            But the specific identities of the shooters and the politicians who directed them remain 

unknown. There were various public allegations concerning purported involvement in the 

massacre of specific politicians and political parties, but such allegations did not lead to any 

investigations since these politicians or their parties occupied various positions in the new 

government. The massacre master-minders and perpetrators are unlikely to be uncovered by the 

current government, even though it has much more evidence available that has still not been 

made public. This evidence includes reported videos of shooters from Muzeinyi Lane and the 

Trade Union buildings, intercepted radio communications of Berkut, and ballistic and medical 

expert reports. 

http://www.moskal.in.ua/?categoty=news&news_id=1083
http://www.segodnya.ua/politics/pnews/protiv-maydana-bylo-otdelenie-snayperov-predstavitel-samooborony-499632.html
http://www.ukrstream.tv/en/videos/fil_m_20_dvadtsiat_svidchien_pro_pierielamnii_dien_protistoian_na_maidani#.U_pcFHl0xjo
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mGnwrOxZ08I
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=sUdt25kgXXg
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           Videos and photos of armed Berkut members shooting during their counterattack and then 

from barricades were cited by the top Ukrainian government officials and by the head of the 

special parliamentary commission and reported by the media as the undisputable proof that the 

special police units massacred the protesters. The Reuters reported that the prosecution case 

against three Berkut members relies on such videos and photos, and that some of key pieces of 

such evidence were misrepresented or ignored. However, the analysis of the publicly available 

evidence is inconclusive whether Berkut and Omega killed any of the protesters, specifically 

unarmed ones, because there were other shooters killing the protesters at the same very time. The 

head of the special parliamentary commission reported that ammunition expertise, contrary to an 

earlier claim by the minister of interior, failed to link any of their weapons to the killed protesters 

and that many of their Kalashnikov assault rifles, records of their use, and the bullet database 

disappeared when the new government was in power.  

            Similarly, while the new government and the head of the parliamentary commission 

publicly alleged that an order to kill unarmed protesters was issued personally by Yanukovych 

and that his entire government and law enforcement agencies and commanders of Berkut, 

Internal Troops, and SBU’s Alfa, were involved in this “criminal organization” by implementing 

this order and issuing similar orders, no evidence of such order was produced. Commanders of 

Alfa and its sniper team, Internal Troops, and Omega all denied receiving such an order, and 

their radio intercepts confirm this.  

 The “sniper massacre” fits a pattern of the politically motivated misrepresentations of the 

mass killing and other cases of violence by the same Ukrainian political forces and the media 

involved. Such cases include the Odesa massacre on May 2, 2014, killings of civilians in 

Donbas, and the beating of Tetiana Chornovol last December and the abduction of Dmytro 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hfLOrd_XMSk
http://fakty.ictv.ua/ru/index/read-news/id/1515115
http://www.reuters.com/article/2014/10/10/us-ukraine-killings-probe-special-report-idUSKCN0HZ0UH20141010
http://www.moskal.in.ua/index.php?categoty=news&news_id=1099
http://www.moskal.in.ua/index.php?categoty=news&news_id=1099
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Bulatov, two Maidan activists who became government ministers as a result of these highly 

publicized cases. The new investigations named the same suspects arrested in December in the 

Chornovol case and pursued as the possibility a version in which Bulatov’s abduction was 

staged. Contrary to the available evidence, the government claimed that more than 40 Odesa 

protesters died as result of a fire caused by them and claimed that separatists killed more than 

1,000 civilians in Donbas by shelling them in their own cities and town. Similar cases include 

misrepresentations of the involvement of the OUN and the UPA in the mass killings of Poles and 

the Nazi-led mass murder of Jews and misrepresentations of more than 2,000 recently 

uncovered, primarily Jewish victims of Nazi-led executions in the town of Volodymyr-

Volynskyi as Poles killed by the Soviet NKVD. While the various available evidence indicates 

that the Malaysian airliner in Donbas was likely shot down by separatists, such a track record 

also raises questions in this case.  

Conclusion 

 The analysis and the evidence presented in this academic investigation put the 

Euromaidan and the conflict in Ukraine into a new perspective. The seemingly irrational mass 

shooting and killing of the protesters and the police on February 20 appear to be rational from 

self-interest based perspectives of rational choice and Weberian theories of instrumentally-

rational action. This includes the following: the Maidan leaders gaining power as a result of the 

massacre, President Yanukovych and his other top government officials fleeing on February 21, 

2014 from Kyiv and then from Ukraine, and the retreat by the police. The same concerns Maidan 

protesters being sent under deadly fire into positions of no important value and then being killed 

wave by wave from unexpected directions. Similarly, snipers killing unarmed protesters and 

targeting foreign journalists but not Maidan leaders, the Maidan Self-Defense and the Right 

http://www.pravda.com.ua/news/2014/05/20/7025922/
https://www.academia.edu/7629265/Ethnic_Cleansing_Genocide_or_Ukrainian-Polish_Conflict_The_Mass_Murder_of_Poles_by_the_OUN_and_the_UPA_in_Volhynia
https://www.academia.edu/6414323/The_Organization_of_Ukrainian_Nationalists_the_Ukrainian_Insurgent_Army_and_the_Nazi_Genocide_in_Ukraine
https://www.opendemocracy.net/od-russia/ivan-katchanovski/owning-massacre-ukraines-katyn
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Sector headquarters, the Maidan stage, and pro-Maidan photographs become rational. While 

such actions are rational from a rational choice or instrumentally-rational theoretical perspective, 

the massacre not only ended many human lives but also undermined democracy, human rights, 

and the rule of law in Ukraine.  

              The massacre of the protesters and the police represented a violent overthrow of the 

government in Ukraine and a major human rights crime. This violent overthrow constituted an 

undemocratic change of government. It gave start to a large-scale violent conflict that turned into 

a civil war in Eastern Ukraine, to a Russian military intervention in support of separatists in 

Crimea and Donbas, and to a de-facto break-up of Ukraine. It also escalated an international 

conflict between the West and Russia over Ukraine. The evidence indicates that an alliance of 

elements of the Maidan opposition and the far right was involved in the mass killing of both 

protesters and the police, while the involvement of the special police units in killings of some of 

the protesters cannot be entirely ruled out based on publicly available evidence. The new 

government that came to power largely as a result of the massacre falsified its investigation, 

while the Ukrainian media helped to misrepresent the mass killing of the protesters and the 

police. The evidence indicates that the far right played a key role in the violent overthrow of the 

government in Ukraine. This academic investigation also brings new important questions that 

need to be addressed.  

 


